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 The State of Texas has moved this Court, pursuant to Rule 56 of the Federal Rules of 

Civil Procedure, for entry of an order of summary judgment in its favor on its claims that the 

State’s redistricting plans for the State’s delegation to the United States Congress, the Texas 

House of Representatives, the Texas State Senate, and the Texas State Board of Education 

neither have the purpose nor will have the effect of denying or abridging the right to vote on 

account of race, color, or membership in a language minority group and otherwise fully comply 

with Section 5 of the Voting Rights Act (“VRA”), 42 U.S.C. § 1973c, and that such plans may 

be implemented without delay.  See generally Benchmark and Proposed Maps (Ex. 1).  As set 

forth below, Defendants United States and Eric H. Holder, Jr. (collectively “United States”) 

oppose Plaintiff’s Motion and submit that it should be denied. 1

 The proposed State House redistricting plan has a retrogressive effect because it provides 

minority voters with the ability to elect their preferred candidates of choice in 45 or 46 districts 

compared to the benchmark plan that provided minority voters with the ability to elect in 50 

districts.  The proposed Congressional redistricting plan has a retrogressive effect because, 

compared to the benchmark plan, it decreases the percentage of districts in the Congressional 

plan in which minority voters have the ability to elect and because under the proposed plan 

479,704 fewer Hispanics will reside in districts in which they have an ability to elect a candidate 

of choice.  Both plans were also adopted with a discriminatory purpose, and there are a 

substantial number of material facts in dispute with regard to both prongs of the Section 5 

 

                                                 

1  In its Answer to the Complaint (Docket No. 45), the United States admitted that Plaintiff is entitled to a 
declaratory judgment that the proposed redistricting plans for the State Board of Education (“SBOE”) and State 
Senate each comply with Section 5, and averred that the Court will have to make its own determination as to 
whether these plans comply with Section 5 before they may be implemented.  Answer ¶¶ 40, 46.  A declaratory 
judgment in the State’s favor has been entered with regard to the SBOE plan.  The United States’ response is 
directed only at the State’s request for declaratory judgment with respect to the proposed plans for the Texas 
Congressional delegation and the State House. 
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standard.  Therefore, summary judgment is not appropriate regarding the House plan and 

Congressional plan. 

I. STANDARD FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 

 Under Rule 56 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, summary judgment shall be 

granted “if the movant shows that there is no genuine dispute as to any material fact and the 

movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.”  Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(a); accord Anderson v. 

Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 247 (1986).  In deciding whether there is a genuine issue of 

material fact, the court must draw all justifiable inferences in the nonmoving party’s favor and 

accept the nonmoving party’s evidence as true. Anderson, 477 U.S. at 255.  To determine which 

facts are “material,” a court must look to the substantive law on which each claim rests.  Celotex 

Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 322 (1986).  A “genuine issue” is one whose resolution could 

establish an element of a claim or defense and, therefore, affect the outcome of the action.  Id. 

 Moreover, courts have generally concluded that cases that involve questions of intent or 

motive are rarely appropriate for summary judgment as relevant evidence is often susceptible to 

different interpretations or inferences by the trier of fact.  Hunt v. Cromartie, 526 U.S. 541, 552-

553 (1999); accord, e.g., Poller v. Columbia Brad. Sys., Inc., 368 U.S. 464, 473 (1962); Att’y 

Gen. v. Irish People Inc., 796 F.2d 520, 524 (D.C. Cir. 1986).  In the redistricting context, 

assessing whether a jurisdiction was racially or politically motivated is not a simple matter, but 

an inherently complex task requiring the court to perform a “sensitive inquiry into such 

circumstantial and direct evidence of intent as may be available.”  Hunt, 526 U.S. at 546 (citing 

Miller v. Johnson, 515 U.S. 900, 905 (1995)); accord Vill. of Arlington Heights v. Metro. Hous. 

Dev. Corp., 429 U.S. 252, 266 (1977); Reno v. Bossier Parish Sch. Bd., 520 U.S. 471, 488-90 
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(1997) (noting that in Section 5 cases involving discriminatory purpose questions, “courts should 

look to our decision in Arlington Heights for guidance”).   

II. ARGUMENT 

A. To Obtain Judicial Preclearance under Section 5, the State Must Demonstrate that 
Its Proposed Redistricting Plans Have Neither a Discriminatory Purpose nor a 
Retrogressive Effect 
 

 Section 5 of the Voting Rights Act requires certain covered jurisdictions to submit any 

voting change to the United States Attorney General or to the United States District Court for the 

District of Columbia for what is known as “preclearance” of the voting change before it can be 

implemented.  42 U.S.C. § 1973c.  Texas is such a covered jurisdiction and, therefore, has 

submitted to this Court for preclearance its proposed redistricting plans for the State’s delegation 

to the United States Congress and for the Texas State House of Representatives.  Under Section 

5, the submitting jurisdiction has the burden of showing that a submitted change has neither a 

discriminatory purpose nor a discriminatory effect.  See Georgia v. United States, 411 U.S. 526 

(1973); Procedures for the Administration of Section 5 of the Voting Rights Act of 1965, 28 

C.F.R. § 51.52 (2011). 

B. The Section 5 Retrogression Standard Requires a Functional Analysis of Elections 

 A voting change has a discriminatory effect if it will lead to retrogression in the position 

of members of a racial or language minority group (i.e., will make members of such a group 

worse off than they had been before the change with respect to their ability to exercise the 

electoral franchise effectively).  See Beer v. United States, 425 U.S. 130, 140-42 (1976). In the 

context of redistricting, this means that the State must establish that its proposed plan does not 

diminish the ability of such minority citizens “to elect their preferred candidate of choice.” 42 

U.S.C. § 1973c(b). 
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 Voting changes are “measured against the existing practice” – the benchmark – to 

determine whether the proposed changes will result in retrogression under Section 5.  Riley v. 

Kennedy, 553 U.S. 406, 416 (2008).  The benchmark against which the new plan is measured is 

the last legally enforceable redistricting plan in force or effect. Id.  In this case, where the State is 

requesting preclearance of statewide plans, analysis of retrogression should be conducted on a 

statewide basis.  Georgia v. Ashcroft, 539 U.S. 461, 479 (2003).  In its 2006 reauthorization of 

the Voting Rights Act, Congress clarified that any voting change which has “the effect of 

diminishing the ability of any citizens of the United States on account of race or color, or 

[language minority status], to elect their preferred candidate of choice denies or abridges the 

right to vote” within the meaning of Section 5.  42 U.S.C. § 1973c(b); see also id. § 1973c(d) 

(“[T]he purpose of subsection (b) of this section is to protect the ability of such citizens to elect 

their preferred candidates of choice.”).  Section 5 jurisdictions may not implement voting 

changes that diminish the ability of minority voters to exercise their electoral power and to elect 

their candidates of choice. 

 Contrary to the arbitrary standard presented by the State in its Motion, determining 

whether a minority group has the “ability to elect” a candidate of choice under Section 5 is not as 

simple as looking at a discrete set of population figures.  “The legal standard is not total 

population, voting age population, voting age citizen population or registration, but the ability to 

elect.  The Supreme Court repeatedly has declined to elevate any of these factual measures to a 

magic parameter.”  Georgia v. Ashcroft, 195 F. Supp. 2d 25, 79 (D.D.C. 2002) (three-judge 

court), vacated on other grounds, 539 U.S. 461 (2003) (citing Johnson v. DeGrandy, 512 U.S. 

997, 1017 n.14 (1994)). 
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 The State’s analysis of “ability to elect” in both the State House and Congressional plans, 

consists only of rote application of a population formula.  Memorandum of Points and 

Authorities in Support of Plaintiff’s Motion for Summary Judgment (“Tex. Mem.”) at 5 (“To 

determine whether a district is one in which a minority group has the ability to elect its candidate 

of choice – i.e., whether the district is a protected opportunity district – courts must look to the 

racial makeup of the population in the district.”).  The State, however, confuses “opportunity” 

district with “ability to elect” district, conflating Section 5 with Section 2 of the Voting Rights 

Act, which the Supreme Court has repeatedly advised against.  “Section 2 concerns minority 

groups’ opportunity to elect representatives of their choice, while the more stringent § 5 asks 

whether the change has the purpose or effect of denying or abridging the right to vote.”  Bartlett 

v. Strickland, 129 S. Ct. 1231, 1249 (2009) (citing LULAC v. Perry, 548 U.S. 399, 446 (2006); 

Reno v. Bossier Parish Sch. Bd. (“Bossier I”), 520 U.S. 471, 476-80 (1997)) (internal quotation 

marks and citations omitted) (emphasis added).  While the Section 2 calculus must include an 

initial focus on a specific majority-minority population floor to determine if an “opportunity” to 

elect exists in a proposed “undiluted” alternative to a challenged voting practice, Bossier I, 520 

U.S. at 480, population is just the starting point of an analysis under Section 5 to determine 

whether existing electoral power of a minority population has been diminished. 

 Moreover, the State also has no support for its arbitrary numerical standard.  With regard 

to African-American voters, the State simply concluded that if a district has a Black voting age 

population greater than 40 percent, then African-American voters can elect their candidate of 

choice without considering whether those voters actually have elected their candidate of choice 

at that level. With respect to Hispanic voters, the State posits that if a district has a Hispanic 

citizen voting age population greater than 50 percent, then Hispanic voters can elect their 
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candidate of choice without considering whether those voters actually have elected their 

candidate of choice at that level.  There is no precedent supporting the State’s decision to limit 

the ability-to-elect analysis under Section 5 to a limited consideration of demographic data using 

arbitrary thresholds.  Similarly, the State provided no justification for treating the two minority 

groups differently.  The State’s analysis constitutes a superficial evaluation of the ability-to-elect 

status of both the benchmark and proposed plans and ultimately renders its assessment of 

retrogression invalid. 

  “In determining whether the ability to elect exists in the benchmark plan and whether it 

continues in the proposed plan, the Attorney General does not rely on any predetermined or fixed 

demographic percentages at any point in the assessment.”  See Guidance Concerning 

Redistricting Under Section 5 of the Voting Rights Act (“2011 Guidance”), 76 Fed. Reg. 7470 

(Feb. 9, 2011).2

                                                 

2  The 2011 Guidance and the Department’s Section 5 Regulations, 28 C.F.R. §§ 51.1-.67 (2011), set forth the 
Attorney General’s analytical framework when, under the Act, he acts as the surrogate for this Court in the 
administrative review of Section 5 submissions.  See 28 C.F.R. § 51.52(a).  Courts have relied on these documents, 
particularly the Guidance, as part of their process to assure that court-drawn plans do not violate Section 5’s 
standards.  See Colleton County Council v. McConnell, 201 F. Supp. 2d 618, 645-646 (D.S.C. 2002).  The Supreme 
Court has stated that it “traditionally afford[s] substantial deference to the Attorney General’s interpretation of 
Section 5 in light of her “central role . . . in formulating and implementing” that provision.  See, e.g., Lopez v. 
Monterey Cnty., 525 U.S. 266, 281-282 (1999). 

  Determining whether the ability to elect exists “requires a functional analysis of 

the electoral behavior within the particular jurisdiction or election district.” Id.  Besides 

population, this includes an examination of election history and voting patterns within the 

jurisdiction, voter registration and turnout information.  Id.  See, e.g., LULAC, 548 U.S. at 428 

(observing that “it may be possible for a citizen voting-age majority to lack real electoral 

opportunity”). 
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 The Texas Legislative Council (“TLC”), a nonpartisan state agency, has advised the 

Texas Legislature, that “[a]n accurate measurement of minority voting strength requires a 

thorough district-by-district analysis of current minority population, of racial bloc voting, and of 

minority voter eligibility, registration, and election participation, since each of these factors 

affects the ability of minority group voters to elect their preferred candidates.”  Texas Legislative 

Council, State and Federal Law Governing Redistricting in Texas 91 (2011) (Ex. 2).  Moreover, 

Todd Giberson, a systems analyst in the Texas Attorney General’s Legal Technical Support 

Division, has acknowledged that his office analyzed certain primary and general election 

contests to assess whether a district was, in fact, an ability-to-elect district for minorities in the 

state.  See Giberson Dep. at 16:5-20, 19, Oct. 18, 2011 (Ex. 3).  The State has failed to include 

that analysis in its motion.  

 As demonstrated by the report of the United States’ expert in this case, Dr. Lisa Handley, 

the proper analysis of the State House or Congressional redistricting plans leads to a conclusion 

that both are retrogressive – or at least raises disputed issues of fact to preclude entry of 

summary judgment. 

C. The State’s Motion for Summary Judgment Should Be Denied Because There Are 
Genuine Disputes of Fact as to Whether Both the House Plan and Congressional 
Plan Are Impermissibly Retrogressive  
 
1. The Proposed House Plan Is Retrogressive Because It Provides Minority 

Voters with an Ability to Elect Candidates of their Choice in Fewer Districts 
than the Benchmark House Plan 
 

 The Court should deny the State's motion for summary judgment because there is a 

genuine dispute of material fact as to whether the proposed House plan provides minority voters 

with the same ability to elect candidates of their choice as the benchmark House plan.  As 

demonstrated by the United States’ expert, the benchmark plan includes 50 ability-to-elect 
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districts, while the proposed plan contains no more than 46.  This evidence conflicts with the 

State's assertion, based on its population-only analysis, that the benchmark plan contains 43 

ability-to-elect districts and the proposed plan contains 44.  Determining whether Texas has met 

its burden under Section 5 to show that the House plan is not retrogressive will require resolution 

of these disputed facts, and the motion for summary judgment should therefore be denied 

 In its Statement of Material Facts, the State relies on its population-only retrogression 

analysis, claiming the benchmark House plan contains 30 Hispanic opportunity districts and 11 

African-American opportunity districts, while its proposed House plan contains 30 Hispanic 

opportunity districts and 12 African-American opportunity districts.  See Statement of Material 

Facts in Support of Plaintiff’s Motion for Summary Judgment at 6-7.  Thus, the State claims, the 

proposed State House plan is not retrogressive.  See Tex. Mem. at 10-13. 

 The State’s claim with regard to the number of opportunity districts in the State House 

plan is plainly disputed by the report of the United States’ expert.  In her report, Dr. Handley 

finds, utilizing her “functional analysis,” that there are 50 districts in the State House benchmark 

plan in which minority voters have the ability to elect candidates of choice, but there are only 45 

or 46 districts in the proposed House redistricting plan that provide minority voters with an 

ability to elect. See Handley House Rep. at 4-13 & app. A (Ex. 4).  Dr. Handley specifically 

found that Districts 33, 35, and 117 provided Hispanic voters an ability to elect in the House 

benchmark plan but do not provide Hispanic voters an ability to elect in the proposed plan.  See 

id. at 9 & app. A.  In addition, District 41 provided Hispanic voters with an ability to elect in the 

benchmark plan, and the State has not met its burden to show that District 41 provides an ability 

to elect in the proposed plan. See id. at 9-10.  District 149 is a coalition district in the benchmark 

plan in which a combined group of minority voters elect their candidate of choice.  This district 
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is eliminated altogether in the proposed plan and replaced with a different district in a different 

county with much smaller minority population.  See id. at 13  Thus, both the ability-to-elect 

status of specific districts and the overall number of ability-to-elect districts in both the 

benchmark and proposed State House plans are disputed. 

 In her analysis, Dr. Handley examines the benchmark plan by looking first at the election 

contests for the State House.  See id. at 3.  Courts refer to the elections involving these districts in 

dispute as “endogenous” elections and generally consider such elections more probative for 

determining whether minority voters can elect their preferred candidate of choice.  See, e.g., 

Bone Shirt v. Hazeltine, 461 F.3d 1011, 1020-21 (8th Cir. 2006); Goosby v. Town Bd., 180 F.3d 

476, 497 (2d Cir. 1999) (citing Clark v. Calhoun County, 88 F.3d 1393, 1397 (5th Cir. 1996)); 

Johnson v. Hamrick, 196 F.3d 1216, 1222 (11th Cir. 1999).  For the proposed House plan, Dr. 

Handley, examined the districts’ likely performance using recompiled election results3 from five 

contests involving Hispanic candidates that were not specific to the districts at issue.  See 

Handley House Rep. at 3-4, 8.4

                                                 

3  Recompiled election analysis is simply the practice of aggregating votes from past elections to predict how 
voters in a proposed district will perform in the future.  More specifically, recompilation analysis looks at the votes 
actually cast in a voting precinct and then recompiles a vote count for those precincts that would comprise the 
proposed district.  Because the proposed district often times includes voting precincts that were not a part of the 
benchmark district, recompilation analysis can only be performed by looking at elections that span the entire 
jurisdiction, in this case, statewide elections.  Recompilation analysis thus depends strictly on exogenous elections 
and does not work with endogenous elections that are specific to any particular district.  The purpose of recompiled 
election analysis is to determine whether a minority-preferred candidate would prevail if the districts were drawn as 
proposed.   

  Courts refer to such elections as “exogenous.”  Because the 

 
4  When assessing ability to elect, courts have generally found that elections involving minority candidates 
are more probative than Anglo-only election contests.  Bone Shirt, 461 F.3d at 1020–21 (“Endogenous and 
interracial elections are the best indicators of whether the white majority usually defeats the minority candidate.”); 
Ruiz v. City of Santa Maria, 160 F.3d 543, 553–54 (9th Cir. 1998) (“[I]n a multi seat, multi vote election, the ability 
of the minority to elect a non minority candidate is not as probative in a Gingles prong three analysis as the inability 
of the minority to elect a minority candidate.”); Uno v. City of Holyoke, 72 F.3d 973, 988 n.8 (1st Cir. 1995) 
(“Although the VRA does not require for a successful Section 2 showing that minority-preferred candidates be 
members of the minority group, elections in which minority candidates run are often especially probative on the 
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district lines change, Dr. Handley cannot use endogenous elections to determine if the districts as 

revised in the proposed plan will still elect a minority candidate of choice.  She evaluated an 

election from each of the following years: 2002, 2004, 2006, 2008, and 2010.  See id. at 8.   

a. District 33 

 Benchmark District 33 is located in Nueces County in the heart of Corpus Christi.  Both 

the State and the United States agree that under the benchmark plan District 33 is an ability-to-

elect district for Hispanic voters in Nueces County.  Dr. Handley’s election-focused analysis 

found that benchmark District 33 was an ability-to-elect district for Hispanic voters.  See id. at 5.  

In the proposed plan, the State eliminates benchmark District 33 in Nueces County and moves 

the district to Rockwall County, near Dallas.5

b. District 35 

  There is no dispute that proposed District 33 does 

not provide minority voters with the ability to elect their candidate of choice, see Tex. Mem. at 

11, Handley House Rep. at 9, and Texas has not created a compensatory district for that loss, 

either in Nueces County or elsewhere in the State, see Handley House Rep. at 13-14.   

 In the proposed plan, south Texas lost another district in which Hispanics had the ability 

to elect a candidate.  Both the State and the United States agree that, under the benchmark plan, 
                                                                                                                                                             

issue of racial bloc voting.”); Nipper v. Smith, 39 F.3d 1494, 1540 (11th Cir. 1994) (en banc) (holding that elections 
involving only white candidates are generally less probative than those involving minority candidates); LULAC v. 
Clements, 999 F.2d 831, 849 (5th Cir. 1993) (en banc) (“This court has consistently held that elections between 
white candidates are generally less probative in examining the success of minority-preferred candidates, generally 
on grounds that such elections do not provide minority voters with the choice of a minority candidate.”); Jenkins v. 
Red Clay Consol. Sch. Dist. Bd. of Ed., 4 F.3d 1103, 1128 (3d Cir. 1993) (“As a general matter, we believe that 
elections involving white candidates only are much less probative of racially polarized voting than elections 
involving both black and white candidates.”); Black Political Task Force v. Galvin, 300 F. Supp. 2d 291, 304 (D. 
Mass. 2004) (“After having conducted an exhaustive review of the case law and the circumstances of this litigation, 
we conclude that the most probative elections for our purposes are likely to be multi-race endogenous elections.”).  
 
5  The State relies on the County Line Rule, Tex. Const. art. III, § 26, a state constitutional provision dictating 
specific treatment of county boundaries when drawing a State House plan, as its basis for not preventing prohibited 
retrogression in Nueces County.  Downton Dep. at 133:16-25, 134:1-2, Oct. 20, 2011.  However, the County Line 
Rule must give way to federal law, including the Voting Rights Act. 
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District 35 is an ability-to-elect district for Hispanic voters.  See Handley House Rep. at 5; Tex. 

Mem. at 11.  The State argues that District 35 is maintained as an ability-to-elect district in the 

proposed plan, but the United States disagrees.  Compare Tex. Mem. at 11, with Handley House 

Rep. at 9.  Hispanic citizen voting-age population (“CVAP”) decreased from 54.6 percent in the 

benchmark plan to 52.5 percent in the proposed plan, and Spanish surname voter registration 

(“SSVR”) decreased from 55.4 percent to 52.7 percent.  Dr. Handley’s analysis shows that 

Hispanic voters in District 35 are able to elect their candidate of choice in the benchmark in 80 

percent of state house races and in 40 percent of the statewide contests analyzed.  Handley House 

Rep. at 5.  In the proposed plan, Hispanic voters can elect their candidate of choice in only 20 

percent of the contests.  Id. at 11.  According to Dr. Alford, the State’s expert, election analysis 

of the performance of statewide candidates preferred by Hispanic voters in District 35 decreases 

from 58 percent in the benchmark to 48 percent in the proposed.  See Alford Rep. at 7-8 (Ex. 6).6

c. District 41 

  

As discussed in the report of Dr. Theodore Arrington, the United States’ expert concerning 

discriminatory intent, during the redistricting process mobilized Hispanic voters were removed 

from this district in order to improve Republican performance in the district and to limit the 

ability of Hispanics to elect candidates.  See Arrington Rep. ¶ 17 (Ex. 7).  These changes to 

enhance Republican performance eliminates the ability of Hispanic voters in District 35 to elect a 

candidate of choice. 

                                                 

6  Regarding the Congressional plan, Dr. Alford assumed during the Perez v. Perry trial that the failure of the 
Democratic candidate in the reaggregated elections meant that Hispanics failed to elect their candidate of choice.  
Trial Tr., Perez v. Perry, No. 5:11-cv-360 (W.D. Tex. 2011), at 1864:17-20 (Ex. 8).  He did not analyze the State 
House contests at that trial. 
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 District 41 is located in Hidalgo County in south Texas.  Both the State and the United 

States agree that, under the benchmark plan, District 41 is an ability-to-elect district for Hispanic 

voters. See Handley House Rep. at 5; Tex. Mem. at 11.  The State maintains that District 41 is an 

ability-to-elect district in the proposed plan, but the United States asserts that the State has not 

met its burden in this regard.  Compare Tex. Mem. at 11, with Handley House Rep. at 9-10.  

Hispanic CVAP decreased from 77.5 percent in the benchmark plan to 72.1 percent in the 

proposed plan.  Spanish surname voter registration decreased from 68.7 percent to 63 percent.  

As discussed in Dr. Arrington’s report, proposed District 41 was crafted for an incumbent who 

had previously been elected in benchmark District 40, Representative Peña, and a significant 

number of Anglo voters were drawn into the district in the proposed plan.  See Arrington Rep. 

¶ 100 tbl. 11; V. Gonzales Decl. ¶¶ 5, 10-13 (Ex. 9); Longoria Decl. ¶¶ 11-17 (Ex. 10).  Dr. 

Handley is unable to determine whether the proposed district provides for the ability to elect both 

because reliable election data is not available for the significant portion of the population that 

resides in precincts split between two districts and because the recompiled election analysis 

showed very close results.  See Handley House Rep. at 9-10.  According to Dr. Alford, the 

State’s expert, the election analysis of the performance of statewide candidates preferred by 

Hispanic voters in District 41 decreases from 67 percent in the benchmark to 48 percent in the 

proposed.  See Alford Rep. at 7-8.   

d. District 117 

 District 117 is located in Bexar County near San Antonio. Both the State and the United 

States agree that in benchmark District 117, Hispanics have the ability to elect a candidate of 

choice.  Under the proposed plan, the State removes portions of District 117 near San Antonio in 

exchange for other parts of the County.  Hispanic CVAP in the district increased from 58.8 
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percent in the benchmark plan to 63.8 percent in the proposed plan.  However, Spanish surname 

voter registration decreased from 50.3 percent to 50.1 percent.  As discussed in Dr. Arrington’s 

report, this exchange involved trading out mobilized Hispanic voters for other Hispanic voters. 

Arrington Rep. ¶ 17.  Without these mobilized voters, Hispanic turnout in the proposed District 

117 would be reduced compared to turnout in the benchmark District 117.  Martinez Fischer 

Decl. ¶¶ 13, 15-16 (Ex. 11).  The State’s population-based approach to analyzing the ability to 

elect fails to account for this factor, allowing the State to maintain that, after redistricting, 

Hispanics still have the ability to elect a candidate of choice in District 117.  Dr. Handley’s 

election-focused analysis, however, accounts for this reduction in Hispanic turnout, concluding 

that, under the proposed plan, Hispanic-preferred candidates will not have the ability to elect. 

Handley House Rep. at 11 tbl. 4.  According to Dr. Alford, election analysis of the performance 

of statewide candidates preferred by Hispanic voters reveals a decrease from 60 percent in 

District 117 in the benchmark plan to 33 percent in the proposed plan.  See Alford Rep. at 7-8. 

e. District 149 and Coalition Districts under Section 5 

District 149 in the benchmark is based in southwest Harris County (including Houston), 

and Dr. Handley finds that the incumbent in District 149, Hubert Vo, is elected by a coalition of 

Hispanic, Black, and Asian voters.  See Handley House Rep. at 3, 7; see also Hochberg Decl. 

¶¶ 4-5 (Ex. 12).  District 149 in the benchmark plan has a combined minority citizen voting age 

population of 61.7 percent. Handley House Rep. at 7.  Since 2004, this coalition of voters in the 

Alief area of Houston has organized and voted cohesively to elect Rep. Vo.  Winkler Decl. 

¶¶ 10-11 (Ex. 13). The State eliminates the district from Harris County altogether, and District 

149 in the proposed plan is moved across the state to Williamson County, where there are few 

minority voters.  The loss of District 149 means that this coalition of minority voters in Alief will 
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no longer have the ability to elect a candidate of choice.  In the view of the United States, 

District 149 is protected under the Voting Rights Act.  See Handley House Rep. at 13.7

The text of Section 5, as amended by Congress just five years ago, is broad enough to 

protect districts such as District 149.  By its terms, Section 5 protects any citizens against the 

adoption of voting changes that have the purpose or effect of denying or abridging their right to 

vote “on account of race or color.” 42 U.S.C. § 1973c(a). This broad protection is not limited to 

those voting changes adversely affecting individuals of a single race only. For example, the 

adoption of a “Whites-only” primary would simultaneously deny the voting rights of both Blacks 

and Hispanics (and, indeed, individuals of any other race), and could be challenged by either, or 

both in concert. 

 

Subsection (b) of Section 5 precludes covered jurisdictions from making changes that 

would “diminish[] the ability of any citizens of the United States on account of race or color, or 

[membership in a language minority], to elect their preferred candidates of choice.” 42 U.S.C. § 

1973c(b). When enacting this language, Congress apparently understood it to protect districts 

such as benchmark District 149.  The House Report on the 2006 amendments, which the 

Supreme Court has regarded as authoritative, see Nw. Austin Mun. Util. Dist. No. One v. Holder, 

129 S. Ct. 2504 (2009) (citing the report repeatedly), explains that, under the new language, 

“[v]oting changes that leave a minority group less able to elect a preferred candidate of choice, 

either directly or when coalesced with other voters, cannot be precleared under Section 5.”  H.R. 

Rep. No. 109-478, at 71 (2006) (emphasis added).  Thus, Congress expected the amended 

                                                 

7  The United States’ expert has identified additional districts in which citizens of one minority group may 
have the ability to elect candidates of their choice only when coalesced with other minority citizens. However, all of 
these other districts provide minority voters the same ability to elect in both the benchmark and proposed plans, so it 
does not matter how the districts are labeled. 
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Section 5 to protect coalition districts, i.e., those in which minority citizens of more than one 

racial group are able to elect a preferred candidate of choice when they coalesce. 

 This explicit approval of protections for coalesced minority groups is consistent with the 

views expressed by Congress in earlier reauthorizations.  In its 1975 reauthorization of the 

Voting Rights Act , Congress expanded protections for certain racial minorities who also are 

language minorities, including  requiring Section 5 preclearance for jurisdictions (such as Texas) 

with a history of discriminating against them.  Congress extensively studied Texas’s history of 

discriminating against both African Americans and Hispanics and concluded that the State had 

“a long history of discriminating against members of both minority groups in ways similar to the 

myriad forms of discrimination practiced against blacks in the South.”  S. Rep. No. 94-295, at 25 

(1975).  In particular, Texas used at-large representation to “effectively deny Mexican 

Americans and black voters in Texas political access in terms of recruitment, nomination, 

election and ultimately, representation.” Id. at 27-28. 

 As a result of that expansion of Section 5’s coverage in 1975, by the time Congress 

amended the Voting Rights Act in 1982, the Attorney General’s exercise of this Section 5 

authority provided ample evidence of discriminatory practices in certain jurisdictions – including 

Texas – that affected Hispanics and African Americans alike.  For example, in 1975, the 

Attorney General refused to pre-clear under Section 5 a Texas bill that would have required all 

registered voters to re-register or be purged from the voting rolls.  He found that this change 

would have a discriminatory effect “[w]ith regard to cognizable minority groups in Texas, 

namely, blacks and Mexican-Americans.”  H. R. Rep. No. 97-227, at 15-16 (1981).  In 1981, the 

Attorney General refused to pre-clear the closing of polling places near both African-American 

and Hispanic communities.  S. Rep. No. 97-417, at 11 (1982).  During consideration of the 1982 
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amendments, the Attorney General objected to a New York City redistricting plan on the basis of 

its effects on African-American and Hispanic voters.  See id. 

The only reported Section 5 decision of which we are aware involving coalition districts 

under Section 5, which predated the 2006 amendments, did not doubt that true coalition districts 

could be protected, though it found no such coalition was at issue in that case.  In Texas v. United 

States, 802 F. Supp. 481 (D.D.C. 1992) (three-judge court), the State of Texas sought judicial 

preclearance for the redistricting plan it adopted following the 1990 Census.  The court 

concluded that the plan did not have a retrogressive effect, because the number of districts in 

which “minorities can elect candidates of their own choosing” increased by one, with the 

creation of an additional “Hispanic district.”  Id. at 486.  It credited the conclusion of the State’s 

expert, who found, based on “major differences . . . in the pattern of Black and Hispanic 

support,” that “mixed minority” districts “would not actually work and could not be considered 

minority districts.” Id.  By implication, a cohesive “mixed minority” or coalition district would 

have counted in terms of determining the number of districts in which minority voters had the 

ability to elect their preferred candidates. 

 Although there is little case law regarding coalition districts under Section 5, a number of 

courts have addressed the issue of coalition districts under Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act of 

1964, 42 U.S.C. § 1973.  The Supreme Court has “[a]ssum[ed] (without deciding) that it was 

permissible for the district court to combine distinct ethnic and language minority groups for 

purposes of assessing compliance with Section 2 . . . .” Growe v. Emison, 507 U.S. 25, 41 

(1993). 

With one exception, lower courts addressing the issue have either held expressly or 

assumed that the analysis of Section 2 claims set out by the Supreme Court in Thornburg v. 
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Gingles, 478 U.S. 30 (1986), applies to Section 2 claims on behalf of a coalition of minority 

voters.  For example, the Fifth Circuit expressly addressed this issue in Campos v. City of 

Baytown and held that “nothing in the law . . . prevents the plaintiffs from identifying the 

protected aggrieved minority to include both Blacks and Hispanics.” 840 F.2d 1240, 1244 (5th 

Cir. 1988).  The appellate court affirmed the trial court’s findings that the coalition minority 

group was sufficiently compact to be a majority in a single-member district, that Blacks and 

Hispanics were politically cohesive, and that bloc voting by the White majority usually 

prevented them from electing their preferred candidates.  The court specifically rejected the 

City’s argument that “plaintiffs must show that Blacks are cohesive, that Hispanics are cohesive 

and that Blacks and Hispanics are together cohesive,” finding that “that burden is too great, if not 

impossible, in certain situations.”  Id. at 1245.  Instead, noting “the proper standard is the same 

as in Gingles,” the court opined: “The key is the minority group as a whole.” Id. 

Similarly, in Concerned Citizens of Hardee Cnty. v. Hardee Cnty. Bd. of Comm’rs,  906 

F.2d 524 (11th Cir. 1990), the Eleventh Circuit followed the Fifth Circuit and held that “[t]wo 

minority groups . . . may be a single section 2 minority if they can establish that they behave in a 

politically cohesive manner.”  The court affirmed the district court’s dismissal of plaintiff’s 

Section 2 claim, but only because the “class failed to demonstrate that blacks and Hispanics in 

Hardee County have ever voted together.” Id. at 527. Likewise, the Second Circuit upheld the 

district court’s application of the Gingles framework to a vote dilution claim brought by a 

coalition of Black and Hispanic voters in Bridgeport Coal. v. City of Bridgeport, 26 F.3d 271, 

275-76 (2d Cir.), vacated and remanded on other grounds, 512 U.S. 1283 (1994). The court 

quoted favorably the district court’s findings that “[c]ombining minority groups to form 

[majority-minority] districts is a valid means of complying with Section 2 if the combination is 
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shown to be politically cohesive,” and that “White bloc voting in Bridgeport will dilute minority 

voting except in districts in which clear [minority-majorities] are established, by a single group 

or a combination African-American and Latino voters.” See id. at 275.  In sum, the Second 

Circuit found “more than sufficient evidence to support a conclusion that the Coalition satisfied 

its burden imposed by Gingles.” Id.  But see Nixon v. Kent County, 76 F.3d 1381 (6th Cir. 1996) 

(en banc) (holding that the plain language of Section 2 does not support a vote dilution claim by 

a coalition of minority groups).  

 In our view, the text and legislative history of Section 5 of the Voting Rights Act, 

including the 2006 amendments, stand as the clearest expression of Congressional intent on this 

issue.  Congress plainly contemplated the protection of districts where minority voters are 

electorally cohesive under Section 5.  Even without benefit of such a clear statement of 

congressional intent, most circuits have reached a similar view with respect to Section 2.  As 

such, the proposed plan's disassembly of District 149, in which minority voters had the ability to 

elect in the benchmark, is retrogressive. 

2. The Proposed Congressional Plan Is Retrogressive 
 

 The proposed Congressional redistricting plan has a retrogressive effect.  The proposed 

plan decreases the percentage of districts in which minority voters have the ability to elect, and 

many Hispanic voters who currently reside in districts in which they can elect a candidate of 

choice in the benchmark would no longer have that ability to elect in the proposed plan.   

 The State’s flawed analysis that considered only demographics of districts in assessing 

ability to elect leads to the conclusion that the benchmark plan contains seven Hispanic 

opportunity districts (Districts 15, 16, 20, 23, 27, 28 and 29) and one African-American 

opportunity district (District 30), and that the proposed plan contains seven Hispanic opportunity 
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districts (Districts 15, 16, 20, 23, 28, 29, and 34) and two African-American opportunity districts 

(Districts 18 and 30).  Material Facts in Support of Plaintiff’s Motion for Summary Judgment at 

4-5.  The State concludes in its Motion that statewide, the proposed plan increases the number of 

minority opportunity districts.  See Tex. Mem. at 6-7, 9.8

 The State’s conclusion as to “opportunity districts” in the benchmark and proposed 

Congressional plan is plainly disputed by the report of the United States’ expert, Dr. Handley, 

who concludes that the proposed Congressional plan does not increase the number of minority 

opportunity districts when compared to the benchmark, but rather maintains the same number of 

such districts in the context of an expanded delegation.  See Handley Cong. Rep. at 8-9 (Ex. 14).  

Dr. Handley’s report demonstrates that there are seven Hispanic ability-to-elect districts 

(Districts 15, 16, 20, 23, 27, 28 and 29) and three African American ability-to-elect districts 

(Districts 9, 18 and 30) in the benchmark plan and seven Hispanic ability-to-elect districts 

(Districts 15, 16, 20, 28, 29, 34 and 35) and three African American ability-to-elect districts 

(Districts 9, 18 and 30) in the proposed plan.  Handley Cong. Rep. at 5-9.  In essence, Dr. 

Handley concludes that the State did not simply maintain the same ten ability-to-elect districts, 

but rather that it removed two districts (23 and 27) in which Hispanics had the ability to elect 

under the benchmark plan and created two new districts (34 and 35) in which Hispanics have the 

ability to elect in the proposed plan, leaving Hispanic voters with a smaller shaer of the now 

larger congressional delegation.  There are thus disputed issues of fact as to whether the State’s 

 

                                                 

8  Dr. Handley’s reports clears up the confusion created by the State’s filings in this case. In its Complaint, 
the State does not characterize any of its districts as “opportunity” or “ability-to-elect” districts, but rather describes 
them according to population characteristics.  See Compl. ¶¶ 36-37 & attachment 1, at 3-5.  In its Motion, the State 
characterizes certain districts as “opportunity” districts but does not always adhere to its own population criteria.  
Thus, the State now characterizes proposed District 35 as an opportunity district where it does not meet the 
Complaint’s population criteria of 60 percent Hispanic voting-age population (“HVAP”).  See Tex. Mem. at 8; see 
also Handley Cong. Rep. at 8. 
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proposed Congressional plan increases the number of ability-to-elect districts when compared to 

the benchmark. 

a. District 23 

 Under the existing plan, Congressional District 23 is located in southwest Texas and 

encompasses 17 whole counties and parts of three other counties.  Both the State and the United 

States agree that, under the benchmark plan, District 23 is an ability-to-elect district for Hispanic 

voters.  See Tex. Mem. at 8-9; Handley Cong. Rep. at 5-6.  The State maintains that District 23 is 

an ability-to-elect district in the proposed plan, but the United States disagrees.  Compare Tex. 

Mem. at 8-9, with Handley Cong. Rep. at 7-8.  Hispanic CVAP in the district increased from 

58.4% in the benchmark plan to 58.5% in the proposed plan. Spanish surname voter registration 

increased from 52% in the benchmark plan to 54% in the proposed plan. However, the 

exogenous election performance decreases from 40% in the benchmark plan to zero in the 

proposed plan. Handley Cong. Rep. at 11.  In his trial testimony in Perez v. Perry, Dr. Alford 

stated that District 23 did not allow Hispanic voters to elect their candidate of choice. Trial Tr., 

Perez v. Perry, No. 5:11-cv-360 (W.D. Tex. 2011), at 1878:5-6 [hereinafter “Perez Tr.”] (Ex. 8) 

(“[Dr. Alford].  I – I don’t count 23 as one of the seven performing districts when I evaluate [the 

proposed Congressional plan].”)  In particular, Dr. Alford said that he would “not recommend 

changing the 23rd in the way in which it was changed.” Id. at 1879:21-22. 

b. District 27 

 Under the existing plan, Congressional District 27 is located in south Texas, bordering on 

both Mexico and the Gulf of Mexico.  It includes all of Kenedy, Kleberg, Nueces, and Willacy 

counties, and parts of Cameron and San Patricio counties. Both the State and the United States 

agree that, under the benchmark plan, District 27 is an ability-to-elect district for Hispanic 
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voters.  See Tex. Mem. at 8; Handley Cong. Rep. at 5-6.  Under the proposed plan, District 27 

will be substantially reconfigured and moved north removing Kenedy, Kleberg, Willacy, and 

Cameron counties population.  The proposed district adds the whole counties of Aransas, 

Calhoun, Jackson, Lavaca, Matagorda, Refugio, Victoria, and Wharton counties, and parts of 

Bastrop, Caldwell, and Gonzales counties.  All of Nueces County and a slightly larger portion of 

San Patricio County remain in proposed District 27.  Both the State and the United States agree 

that Hispanic citizens will not be able to elect candidates of their choice in proposed District 27.  

See Tex. Mem. at 8; Handley Cong. Rep. at 5-6. 

c. Retrogression Standard in the Congressional Plan 

 A simple numerical comparison of the ability-to-elect districts in the benchmark and 

proposed Congressional plans does not provide a complete view of the existence of retrogression 

as it does in the State House plan, insofar as the total number of districts in the State House 

remain the same following redistricting, while the total number of the districts in Texas’ 

congressional delegation increases from 32 in the benchmark to 36 in the proposed.  Rather, the 

existence of retrogression in the proposed Congressional plan should be determined through a 

more detailed look at the actual effect that the proposed voting change has on minority electoral 

power in Texas. This is because, after all, the State has asked this Court for “a determination that 

the [plan] is no more dilutive than what it replaces,” Reno v. Bossier Parish Sch. Bd. (“Bossier 

II”), 528 U.S. 320, 335 (2000), which is comparing proposed minority electoral strength to the 

benchmark. 

 The State’s request for a judgment of Section 5 preclearance of the proposed 

Congressional plan is made in the context of an almost unprecedented increase in the number of 

seats in its Congressional delegation – four – resulting from a State population increase fueled 
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mostly by the increase in the State’s Hispanic population.9

 Under the benchmark Congressional plan, minority voters currently have the ability to 

elect their preferred candidates of choice in ten of the thirty-two Congressional districts in Texas.  

They thus possess electoral power in 31.3 percent of the State’s Congressional districts.  The 

proposed Congressional plan reduces that power to ten out of thirty-six districts – 27.7 percent of 

the State’s Congressional Districts.  Applying this same focus only to the State’s Hispanic voters, 

under the benchmark Congressional plan, Hispanic voters currently have the ability to elect their 

preferred candidates of choice in seven of the 32 Congressional districts in Texas. They thus 

possess electoral power in 21.9 percent of the State’s Congressional districts, already far below 

their proportion of the state population.  The proposed Congressional plan reduces that power 

further by establishing only seven ability-to-elect districts out of 36 total – 19.4 percent of the 

  According to the 2010 Census, from 

2000 to 2010, the total population of Texas increased by 4,293,741 persons to 25,145,561, and 

the total Hispanic population of the state increased by 2,791,255 persons to 9,460,921.  Thus, the 

growth in the State’s Hispanic population accounted for 65 percent of the State’s total population 

increase during that decade, and Hispanics now constitute 37.6 percent of Texas’s total 

population.  Handley Cong. Rep. at 1 n.1.  Under such circumstances, as is demonstrated below, 

the electoral power of the State’s Hispanic population has been clearly diminished, amounting to 

prohibited retrogression. 

                                                 

9  An increase of four in the number of Congressional seats, as just occurred in Texas, is unprecedented in 
states fully covered under Section 5. Both California and Florida experienced similar increases since 1970, but 
Section 5 coverage for both states is not statewide, only in a small number of counties. California went from 45 to 
52 (+7) between 1980 and 1990, and Florida from 15 to 19 (+4) between 1970 and 1980, and from 19 to 23 (+4) 
between 1980 and 1990. Texas has seen smaller increases in the past, specifically, between 1970 and 1980 from 24 
to 27 (+3) and between 1980 and 1990 from 27 to 30 (+3). See U.S. Dep’t of the Interior, National Atlas: 
Congressional Apportionment (Feb. 28, 2011), at http://nationalatlas.gov/articles/boundaries/a_conApport.html. 
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State’s Congressional Districts.  Handley Cong. Rep. at 10-11 tbl. 7.  While Section 5 may not 

require that minority groups be accorded electoral power proportional to their representation in 

the population, it prohibits actual diminution of minority existing electoral power.  The 

circumstances in this case are exceptional, yet the State proposes not to maintain the share of 

minority ability-to-elect districts in the Congressional delegation, and has chosen to take away 

from a substantial number of Hispanics their ability to elect candidates of choice.  As a result, 

Hispanics in Texas will have a diminished ability to elect members of Texas’ Congressional 

delegation. 

 The exceptional circumstances in this case readily distinguish it from Abrams v. Johnson, 

521 U.S. 74 (1997).  In Abrams, several Georgia voters challenged the congressional 

redistricting plan adopted by the district court as being inconsistent with Sections 2 and 5 of the 

Voting Right Act, claiming, among other things, that it included only one majority-Black district 

and did not adequately represent the interests of Georgia’s Black population.  In the benchmark 

plan, one out of 10 districts was majority Black, while the district court’s plan kept one majority 

Black district even though the total number of districts had increased to 11.  The court rejected 

the claim that Blacks did not have “the same electoral opportunities” under the district court’s 

plan since it reduced their relative influence from one of 10 districts (10 percent) to one of 11 

districts (9 percent).  Id. at 97-98.  The court specified that the VRA does not mandate that “each 

time a State with a majority-minority district” is allowed to “add one new district because of 

population growth, it would have to be majority-minority.  This the Voting Rights Act does not 

require.”  Id.  Abrams does not address circumstances, present here, where the increase in the 

number of districts is much greater than one – in this case, four – and where the population 

growth is predominately led by Hispanic voters.  Under the proposed plan, Hispanic voters will 
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lose ground in their existing ability to elect candidates of choice with the proposed plan even 

though the number of majority Hispanic districts remains the same, seven. 

 In addition to the above, the State’s own actions with regard to District 23, which may 

give rise to a finding of discriminatory purpose (see below), cannot be ignored in determining the 

existence of the retrogressive effect of the State’s action in the proposed Congressional plan.  

The State considers benchmark District 23 to be a Hispanic opportunity district under Section 5. 

Despite that view, however, the State took action resulting in the weakening of the election 

performance of the proposed District 23, and removal of its ability-to-elect status, to ensure that 

a Hispanic candidate of choice could not be elected.  Ruiz Mendelsohn Decl. ¶¶ 5-9 (Ex. 15); 

Rodriguez Decl. ¶¶ 4-6 (Ex. 16).  The State employee who participated in drawing the State’s 

Congressional plan has testified that proposed District 23 was constructed in such a way as to 

increase slightly the Hispanic population metrics, while at the same time increasing the partisan 

Republican performance of the District for the incumbent, who is indisputably not the Hispanic-

preferred candidate of choice.  Downton Dep. at 43:22-25, 44:1-25, 45:1-16, Oct. 20, 2011 (Ex. 

5). 

 The effect of this line drawing is to decrease Hispanic turnout dramatically in proposed 

District 23.  The racially polarized voting analysis provided by the State shows that it increased 

the number of Hispanics voting for the Republican candidates only slightly.  The chart below 

shows that the real effect was to significantly decrease the number of Hispanics voting for the 

Hispanic preferred candidate.   

 Benchmark  
Estimated 
Hispanic Votes for 
Anglo Candidate 

Proposed 
Estimated 
Hispanic Votes for 
Anglo Candidate 

Benchmark 
Estimated Hispanic 
Votes for Hispanic 
Candidate 

Propose Estimated 
Hispanic Votes for 
Hispanic Candidate 

2002  7,614 8,572 59,861 48,455 
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2004  13,421 13,923 74,156 57,621 
2006  8,614 9,254 42,891 31,970 
2008  6,805 9,445 83,907 67,650 
2010  755 3,812 45,291 33,503 
 
 See State of Texas’s Racially Polarized Voting Analysis for Congressional District 23 (Ex. 17); 

see also United States’ Identifications of Elections Considered (Docket # 58).  The above-cited 

actions of the State – seeking to change an admitted “opportunity” district so as to increase the 

electability of a Hispanic-non-preferred candidate of choice – not only speak to the State’s 

retrogressive intent, but to the retrogressive effect of the State’s seemingly successful intended 

actions.  In this case, Texas was not the “incompetent retrogressor.”  See Bossier II, 528 U.S. at 

332. 

 Finally, under the benchmark plan, there are ten districts in which minorities have the 

ability to elect candidates of their choice, and according to the 2010 Census, there is a total 

Hispanic population of 4,974,087 persons in these benchmark districts.  Handley Cong. Rep. at 2 

tbl. 1.  Under the proposed plan, there are ten districts in which minorities have the ability to 

elect candidates of their choice, and according to the 2010 Census, there is a total Hispanic 

population of 4,494,383 persons in these proposed districts.  Handley Cong. Rep. at 9 tbl. 6.  

Thus, the State’s proposed Congressional plan, while maintaining the same number of minority 

ability-to-elect districts as in the benchmark plan, reduces by 479,704 the number of Hispanics in 

the State’s ten minority ability-to-elect Congressional districts.  Id.  The State has chosen to do 

this despite the substantial growth in the State’s Hispanic population over the past decade, 

responsible for most of the total population growth in the State between 2000 and 2010 and the 

resulting four seat increase in the State’s Congressional delegation.  While Section 5 does not 
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compel the State to increase Hispanic voting power, under the circumstances of this case, Section 

5 does not give the State license to decrease already existing Hispanic voting power as it has. 

d. Unavoidable Retrogression 

 Nor was the State unable to avoid the retrogression from the benchmark to the proposed 

plan in District 23.10

D. There Is Direct and Circumstantial Evidence of Discriminatory Purpose in the 
Enactment of Both the Proposed House and Proposed Congressional Plans. 

  In fact, the State could have maintained benchmark District 23 as an 

ability-to-elect district with only minor changes to its proposed plan which do not impact the rest 

of the proposed districts.  See Handley Cong. Rep. at 9-10.  In doing so, the State would have at 

the least maintained the overall share of Hispanic voting strength contained in the benchmark 

plan. 

 
 The United States and State disagree on the critical material fact of whether the House 

and Congressional redistricting plans were adopted, at least in part, with a prohibited 

discriminatory purpose in violation of Section 5.  As outlined below, and discussed in greater 

detail in Dr. Arrington’s declaration, there is direct and circumstantial evidence that the 

development and passage of these redistricting plans were tarnished by the prohibited purpose of 

diminishing the ability of citizens of the United States, on account of race, color, or membership 

in a language minority group, to elect their preferred candidates.  As discussed in Part I, supra, 

                                                 

10  Whether the State could have avoided retrogression in the formulation of its redistricting plan is a factor in 
the overall retrogression analysis. See 2011 Guidance, 76 Fed. Reg. at 7472 (“In considering whether less-
retrogressive alternative plans are available, the Department of Justice looks to plans that were actually considered 
or drawn by the submitting jurisdiction, as well as alternative pans presented or made known to the submitting 
jurisdiction by interested citizens or others.  In addition, the Department may develop illustrative alternative plans 
for use in its analysis, taking into consideration the jurisdiction’s redistricting principles.  If it is determined that a 
reasonable alternative plan exists that is non-retrogressive or less retrogressive than the submitted plan, the Attorney 
General will interpose an objection.”) 
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the Supreme Court has held that question of intent or motive are rarely appropriate for summary 

judgment.  See, e.g., Hunt, 526 U.S. at 552-53. 

1. The Section 5 Purpose Standard Includes Direct and Circumstantial 
Evidence of Discriminatory Intent. 
 

 To meet its preclearance burden under Section 5, in addition to demonstrating the 

absence of discriminatory effect, the State has the burden of demonstrating that the voting 

changes at issue do not have the purpose of denying or abridging the right to vote on account of 

race or color, or membership in a language minority group.  42 U.S.C. § 1973c(a).  Congress has 

defined “purpose” under Section 5 as including “any discriminatory purpose.”  Id. § 1973c(c). 

 In its Memorandum, the State argues that “any discriminatory purpose” refers “only to 

intentional discrimination that itself violates the Fourteenth or Fifteenth Amendment.”  Tex. 

Mem. at 17.  In arguing the absence of such purpose in the State’s passage of both the 

Congressional and State House plans, the State points only to allegedly undisputed evidence, 

contained mostly in conclusory declarations of State legislative officials and legislative journals, 

that the State was motivated by “ordinary districting principles and, therefore, not by any 

invidious unconstitutional purpose.”  Id. at 24; see also id. at 25, 27-28 (same).  The State also 

submits form declarations stating that that during the redistricting process for both the 

Congressional and State House plans, no changes were proposed by any Texas legislator, 

legislative staff member or anyone else, with “the purpose of harming any voter or group of 

voters on account of their race, ethnicity or national origin” and that the State legislative 
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leadership would not have permitted any such proposal to be brought to the legislative floor for 

debate or consideration.  Tex. Mem. at 26, 29.11

 The State’s argument with regard to discriminatory purpose appears to be that as long as 

there is no “smoking gun” evidence of specific racial intent, there can be no violation of the 

purpose prong of Section 5.  However, what is noticeably absent from the State’s discussion of 

discriminatory purpose under Section 5 is any discussion of what the Supreme Court itself has 

set down as guidance for assessing discriminatory purpose in the context of redistricting.  As the 

Court stated in Bossier I, “assessing a jurisdiction’s motivation in enacting voting changes is a 

complex task requiring a ‘sensitive inquiry into such circumstantial and direct evidence as may 

be available.’”  520 U.S. at 488 (citing Arlington Heights, 429 U.S. at 266).  “There, we set forth 

a framework for analyzing ‘whether invidious discriminatory purpose was a motivating factor’ in 

a government body’s decisionmaking.”  Id. (citing Arlington Heights, 429 U.S. at 266). 

    

 Under the Arlington Heights rubric, the “important starting point” for assessing whether 

the State can establish that the proposed plan was adopted free of a discriminatory purpose is 

“the impact of the official action whether it bears more heavily on one race than another.  Id. 

(citing Arlington Heights, 429 U.S. at 266).  “In a § 5 case, ‘impact’ might include a plan’s 

retrogressive effect and…its dilutive impact.” Id.  Other factors besides impact relevant to a 

purpose inquiry under Arlington Heights include: the historical background of the decision, 

particularly if it reveals a series of decisions undertaken with discriminatory intent; the sequence 

                                                 

11  These form declarations were prepared by the Texas Attorney General’s Office without prior consultation 
with the declarants concerning their content.  See Solomons Dep. at 194:14-195:24, Oct. 14, 2011 (Ex. 18).  
Moreover, multiple declarants admitted that they lacked personal knowledge of whether other legislators, legislative 
staff, or consultants relied on race in drawing districts incorporated in the final plan.  See, e.g., Downton Dep. at 
51:14-52:3, Oct. 20, 2011; Interiano Dep. at 175:15-176:18, Oct. 20, 2011; Solomons Dep. at 199:15-20, Oct. 14, 
2011. 
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of events leading up to the decision; whether the challenged decision departs, either procedurally 

or substantively, from the normal practice; and contemporaneous statements and viewpoints held 

by the decision-makers.  Id. at 266-68; see also 2011 Guidance, 76 Fed. Reg. at 7471; Arrington 

Rep. ¶ 9.12

 The State also contends that such intentional discrimination must be “actually motivated 

by racial or ethnic animus,” Tex. Mem. at 19, with no support in the statutory text or 

jurisprudence.  In Bossier Parish II, the Supreme Court held that the “purpose prong” of Section 

5 barred voting changes that are intended to retrogress the voting strength of present or future 

minority voters.  See 528 U.S. at 337-341.  The 2006 Amendments to the Voting Rights Act 

expanded the purpose prong to address the broader field of discriminatory aims, see 42 U.S.C. 

§ 1973c(c), but did not eliminate the prohibition on voting changes enacted with an intent to 

retrogress.  In addition, intentional discrimination encompasses actions that purposefully 

discriminate to achieve an otherwise permissible aim.  See Garza v. County of Los Angeles, 918 

F.2d 763, 778 n.1 (9th Cir. 1990) (Kozinski J., concurring in part and dissenting in part) 

(describing purposeful housing discrimination motivated by a desire to maintain property 

values).  Such changes fall within the bar on changes with “any purpose of denying or abridging 

the right to vote on account of race, color, or membership in a language minority group.”  28 

C.F.R. § 51.54(a); see also 2011 Guidance, 76 Fed. Reg. at 7471 (“The Department will also 

evaluate whether there are instances where the invidious element may be missing, but the 

underlying motivation is nonetheless intentionally discriminatory.”).   

 

                                                 

12   The TLC specifically notes in its guidance to state legislators that Congress and the Department of Justice 
set out the Arlington Heights framework as the means by which to assess intent.  See State and Federal Law 
Governing Redistricting in Texas, supra, at 87-89 (citing H.R. Rep. No. 109-478, at 66-68 (2006); 28 C.F.R. 
§§ 51.54-.59); see also Arrington Rep. ¶ 9. 
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 Utilizing the Arlington Heights analysis in this case, as is amply demonstrated both by 

the reports of the United States’ experts, Dr. Handley and Dr. Arrington, as well as by the 

declarations and other exhibits appended to this Response, and applying the broad scope of the 

purpose prong set out in the 2006 Amendments to the Voting Rights Act, there is substantial 

factual dispute concerning whether the proposed Congressional and State House plans were 

enacted with a discriminatory purpose. 

2. There Are Genuine Disputes of Material Facts Regarding Whether the 
Proposed House Plan Was Adopted with Discriminatory Intent. 

 
 The Court should deny the State’s request for summary judgment regarding the purpose 

of the proposed State House plan because substantial evidence creates a genuine dispute of 

material facts concerning the possible presence of a discriminatory purpose.  Dr. Handley and 

Dr. Arrington’s reports establish a discriminatory impact in four or five districts.  These 

retrogressions occurred using techniques that suggest a discriminatory purpose, including setting 

boundaries at a level of detail where race is the only available data and substituting low-turnout 

Hispanic voters for higher ones while maintaining a minority population majority.  Deviations 

from procedural and substantive standards, as well as racially-charged contemporaneous 

statements, also provide significant evidence of a discriminatory purpose.  The State has 

presented little evidence concerning the intent of the proposed plan, but the legislative staff who 

crafted the map and legislators closely involved in the process have provided conflicting 

testimony.  Assessing the credibility of these witnesses and resolving other disputed factual 

issues cannot be performed until trial. 
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a. Impact of the Decision 

 As is indicated in the report of Dr. Handley, the proposed House plan has a retrogressive 

impact on the minority population in the State of Texas, as the proposed plan contains at least 

four, and perhaps five, fewer minority ability-to-elect districts than exist in the benchmark plan.  

See Handley House Rep. at 1, 8-10, 13.  This significant impact is highly relevant to the 

discriminatory purpose analysis.  Moreover, there is other evidence of the impact of the proposed 

plan on the State’s minority population.  As pointed out by Dr. Arrington, the State ignored the 

substantial increase in the minority population, especially in the Dallas-Fort Worth area, in 

proposing a plan that actually reduced minority electoral power.  See Arrington Rep. ¶¶ 52-60.  

Although the proposed House plan does not include the visually striking evidence of cracking, in 

the manner of the proposed Congressional plan, see infra, the proposed House plan uses visually 

subtle but no less direct methods to effectuate a retrogression in Hispanic representation in 

Dallas-Fort Worth and Harris County.  Specifically, these counties exhibit wide variation in 

district populations to protect incumbents from districts drawn prior to ten years of explosive 

minority population growth.  See id. ¶¶ 104-107.  Moreover, in Harris County, the two 

incumbents who are paired in District 137 are the candidates of choice of the Hispanic 

community in Hispanic-controlled districts, either alone or as part of a cohesive coalition.  See 

id. ¶¶ 38, 41.  Traditional districting criteria did not prevent the State from creating additional 

ability-to-elect districts.  See id. ¶¶ 61-76.   

 In addition, the State split precincts, drawing district boundaries at a level of detail at 

which political data is not available and lines can only be guided by racial data, to eliminate 

minority election districts and to disadvantage minority voters.  See id. ¶¶ 77-83, 103-104.  

Proposed District 41 is a particularly striking example of this practice, as its boundaries split 14 
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precincts and include 69.5% of the Anglo VAP of the split precincts but only 40.2% of the 

Hispanic VAP of the split precincts.  See Arrington Rep. at 30.  The State’s employees indicated 

that they followed guidance from a state legislator concerning which portions of split precincts 

would be politically favorable, see Interiano Dep. at 174:4-24, Oct. 20, 2011 (Ex. 19); Downton 

Dep. at 128:1-18, Oct. 20, 2011, but that same legislator denied instructing state employees to 

split precincts in order to include anything more than his home and the high school he had 

attended and to exclude the home of another legislator, see Peña Dep. at 97:16-102:15, 157:5-

173:4., Oct. 19, 2011 (Ex. 20).  The legislator denied any local knowledge of whether certain 

portions of split precincts were more likely than others to favor him politically.  See, e.g., Peña 

Dep.at 163:17-25, 168:17-169:5, 172:19-173:4, Oct. 19, 2011.  Because political data is not 

available at the census block level, the only remaining possibility is that the State drew the lines 

on the basis of race, as the outcome strongly suggests. 

 In addition to the general evidence above, District 117 provides an example in the 

proposed House plan of the same strategy applied to District 23 in the proposed Congressional 

plan, whose effect is discussed above.  Again the State removed high turnout Hispanic voters and 

replaced them with Hispanic voters known to turn out at a lower rate.  See Arrington Rep. ¶¶ 17, 

26-27, 144; Farias Decl. ¶¶ 11-16 (Ex. 21); Martinez Fischer Decl. ¶¶ 6-9, 15-18; Garza Dep. at 

40:8-12, 42:15-18, Oct. 19, 2011 (Ex. 22); Ruiz Mendelsohn ¶¶ 5-9; Rodriguez Decl. ¶¶ 4-6.  

And again the State maintained the superficial appearance of a Hispanic ability-to-elect district 

by maintaining Hispanic population levels.  See Martinez Fischer Decl. ¶¶ 15-16; Garza Dep. at 

58:16-24, Oct. 19, 2011; see also LULAC, 548 U.S. at 441 (criticizing the maintenance of 

nominal population majorities “to create the façade of a Latino district”).    
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b. Sequence of Events 

 As was also the case with regard to the Congressional plan, the House redistricting 

process was a secretive process not effectively open to minority representatives of choice.  See 

Arrington Rep. ¶¶ 108-129; V. Gonzales Decl. ¶¶ 5-10, 19-24.  The concerns of these 

representatives were not taken into account by those who were in charge of the Texas 

redistricting process.  Most changes to minority ability-to-elect districts made during 

deliberations on the House plan on the House floor were trivial, and most such districts were not 

changed at all.  As Dr. Arrington states, “From the perspective of minority ability to elect 

representatives of their choice, the entire process after introduction of the Chairman’s plan meant 

nothing.”  Arrington Rep. ¶ 121.  Minority legislators’ efforts to amend the plan were tabled and 

later withdrawn.  In contrast, majority legislators’ amendments were generally accepted.  

Amendments by minority legislators to increase the number of ability-to-elect districts were 

quickly tabled.  See HB 150 – Debate, Texas House Journal (“Floor Debate”), S97-256 (Apr. 27, 

2011) (Ex. 23). 

c. Procedural and Substantive Departures 

 As indicated above, the secretive House redistricting process afforded minority 

representatives limited access to effective participation.  V. Gonzales Decl. ¶¶ 5-10, 19-24.  This 

limited the ability of those who would advocate for the creation of additional minority ability-to-

elect districts to influence the process.  Arrington Rep. at ¶¶ 3, 127-129.  Examples include an 

extremely truncated hearing schedule after the Chairman of the Redistricting Committee released 

his proposed plan, composed of two hearings on a Friday and a Sunday, and suspension of the 

“five-day posting rule” for proposed legislation, see, e.g., Gonzales Dec. ¶¶ 19-24, despite the 

admission that the State depended on the committee process to determine statewide VRA 
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compliance.  See Downton Dep. at 133:19-135:7, Oct. 20, 2011 (acknowledging that the 

Chairman’s plan was retrogressive, even under the State’s population-based metrics).   

 As a matter of substance, the State claimed to have relied on a “member-driven” 

consensus process to protect incumbents of all parties and – when that process failed – to 

assemble a plan that met the approval of the House leadership.  See Perez Tr. 1427 (Interiano); at 

Downton Dep. at 77:7-13, Oct. 20, 2011.  As Dr. Arrington’s report indicates, however, the line 

drawers, operating away from public view, broke from a consensus or partisan motivation and 

drew lines on a purely racial basis when partisan data was unavailable.  See Arrington Rep. ¶ 83 

(“[T]hese changes were not random, but had a statistically significant racial pattern.”).   

 The proposed House plan also deviates from a substantive policy against splitting 

precinct lines.  Not only did House leadership argue against splitting precincts as a general 

policy, see id. ¶ 77, but splitting precincts on the basis of race at the block level in some 

instances create districts that – according to the best available election data – perform worse than 

districts drawn on the basis of whole precincts, see id. ¶¶ 17-20.13

 Finally, the House plan deviates from traditional redistricting principles.  As Dr. 

Arrington indicates, this was certainly the case given the State’s inconsistent application of 

Texas’s constitutional County Line Rule in both Nueces and Harris counties.  Arrington Rep. 

  Nevertheless, the proposed 

House plan splits 412 precincts, id. ¶ 77.  Moreover splitting precincts results in the need to 

create more or different precincts and can result in additional expense, disruption, and confusion 

of elections officials and voters, and reduction in voter participation.  See id. ¶ 84-96; see also 

V. Gonzales Decl. ¶ 15; Longoria Decl. ¶ 14.   

                                                 

13  Because election returns are aggregated at the precinct level and cannot be disaggregated, if a cluster of 
Anglo voters are split out of a predominantly Hispanic and Democratic precinct, those white voters will appear to be 
Democrats in an election analysis of a proposed district, regardless of their actual political affiliation.  See id. ¶ 80.   
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¶¶ 30-51.  Moreover, the districts deviate substantially from the equal population principle in a 

manner that cannot be justified by reasonable state policies, particularly within large, urban 

counties.  See id. ¶¶ 104-107.  In one particularly flagrant instance, the district with the highest 

Anglo population in predominantly Hispanic Hidalgo County – District 41 – is underpopulated 

by 7,399 persons and borders on a district that is overpopulated by 5,856 persons.  V. Gonzales 

Decl. ¶ 17.   

d. Contemporaneous Statements 

 Statements made by those engaged in the State House redistricting process provide 

further indicia of discriminatory intent.  Most tellingly, Representative Beverly Woolley, who 

led the redistricting process in Harris County that had excluded participation by any minority 

members of the Harris County delegation, told a group of minority representatives, “[Y]ou all are 

protected by the Voting Rights Act and we are not.  We don’t want to lose these people due to 

population growth in the county, or we won’t have any districts left.”  Coleman Decl. ¶¶ 9-14 

(Ex. 24) (approximating quote).  Moreover, Representative John Garza of District 117 first 

requested that his district extend into a predominantly Anglo area of Bexar County, and when he 

was rebuffed he requested inclusion of particular territory in his district that would maintain only 

the superficial appearance of Hispanic electoral control, specifically telling Representative Joe 

Farias of District 118 that he needed “more Mexicans in [his] district” while rejecting those in 

areas where Hispanics are politically organized.  Farias Decl. ¶¶ 11-16; see also Martinez 

Fischer Decl. ¶¶ 6-9.  Finally, members of the House Redistricting Committee and other Anglo 

members of the Harris County delegation repeatedly suggested to Representative Scott 

Hochberg, a senior Anglo Democrat, that the district in which he had been drawn with 

Representative Hubert Vo, a junior Asian Democrat and one of only two Asian Americans in the 
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Texas House, would favor Hochberg being reelected.  See Hochberg Decl. ¶¶ 2-3.  This decision 

made little sense from a partisan perspective and can only be explained by intent to break the 

multiethnic coalition that had supported Representative Vo.  See id.  

 Using the Arlington Heights framework as set forth above, there are clearly disputed 

material facts at issue with regard to the existence of discriminatory purpose in the formulation 

of the State’s Congressional and House plans.  The State has clearly not met its burden of 

demonstrating the absence of such discriminatory intent. 

3. There Are Genuine Disputes of Material Facts Regarding Whether the 
Proposed Congressional Plan Was Adopted with Discriminatory Intent. 

 
 The Court should deny the State’s request for summary judgment regarding the purpose 

of the proposed congressional plan because substantial evidence creates a genuine dispute of 

material facts concerning the possible presence of a discriminatory purpose.  In proposed District 

23, retrogression occurred using techniques that suggest a discriminatory purpose, including 

setting boundaries at a level of detail where race is the only available data and substituting low-

turnout Hispanic voters for higher ones while maintaining a minority population majority.  

Proposed districts in the Dallas-Fort Worth area were purposely manipulated to decrease current 

and future minority voting strength.  Deviations from procedural and substantive standards, as 

well as contemporaneous statements, also provide significant evidence of a discriminatory 

purpose. 

a. Impact of the Decision 

 As indicated above, the State’s proposed plan for the Texas Congressional delegation 

retrogresses from the benchmark plan, with a substantial adverse impact on the ability of the 

State’s minority population to elect their candidates of choice.  But the evidence suggests other 
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impacts as well.  The State chose not to propose any new additional minority ability-to-elect 

districts and removed hundreds of thousands of minority voters from districts in which they 

could elect candidates of choice, in the face of a substantial increase in State population driven in 

very large part by large increase in the Hispanic population, an increase that led to the allocation 

of four new Congressional seats.  This suggests both possible dilution as well as possible 

retrogression of minority voting strength in Texas.  Indeed, as the Court is aware, there is 

pending vote dilution litigation under Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act in Texas, in which the 

parties have just completed final briefing.  As the Supreme Court noted in Bossier I, “evidence of 

a plan’s dilutive impact may be relevant to the Section 5 purpose inquiry.”  520 U.S. at 487.  In 

that regard, the Court noted: 

As we observed in Arlington Heights,  the impact of an official 
action is often probative of why the action was taken in the first 
place since people usually intend the natural consequences of their 
actions. Thus, a jurisdiction that enacts a plan having a dilutive 
impact is more likely to have acted with a discriminatory intent to 
dilute minority voting strength than a jurisdiction whose plan has 
no such impact. A jurisdiction that acts with an intent to dilute 
minority voting strength is more likely to act with an intent to 
worsen the position of minority voters – i.e., an intent to retrogress 
– than a jurisdiction acting with no intent to dilute. The fact that a 
plan has a dilutive impact therefore makes it “more probable” that 
the jurisdiction adopting that plan acted with an intent to retrogress 
than “it would be without the evidence.” To be sure, the link 
between dilutive impact and intent to retrogress is far from direct, 
but “the basic standard of relevance . . . is a liberal one,” and one 
we think is met here. 

 
Id. (internal citations omitted). 
 
 Besides the above, there is additional evidence of the impact of the proposed 

Congressional plan that can advise a determination of prohibited intent.  Specifically with regard 

to proposed District 23 and some districts in the Dallas-Fort Worth area (Dallas and Tarrant 
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Counties), the minority population was purposely manipulated to decrease current and future 

minority voting strength.  In the proposed plan, the State split Maverick County between two 

districts – District 23 and District 28 – and made other changes in the San Antonio area that 

removed high turnout Hispanic voters from District 23 and replaced them with Hispanic 

communities that turn out to vote at a lower rate, as well as with Anglo voters. See Arrington 

Rep. ¶¶ 141-145; Cantu Decl. ¶¶ 6-12 (Ex. 25); Hernandez Decl. ¶¶ 6-9 (Ex. 26); Ruiz 

Mendelsohn Decl. ¶¶ 5-9; and Rodriguez Decl. ¶¶ 4-6.  In so doing, the State has created a 

proposed district that modestly increases the Hispanic population, but will actually be less likely 

to provide Hispanic voters with the ability to elect their candidate of choice, in order to protect 

the Republican incumbent. See Arrington Rep. ¶¶ 141-145.  This was part of an intentional 

strategy “to limit the creation of minority election districts as much as possible while presenting 

the appearance of non-retrogression based on unreliable, misleading bright line tests based on 

[voting-age population (“VAP”)] or CVAP.”  Id. ¶ 194.  

 In Harris County, the State cracked the large Hispanic population, which is substantial 

enough to form the core of an additional minority district, and submerged it in six Anglo-

dominated districts.  See Arrington Rep. ¶¶ 146-147.  In addition, in the Dallas-Fort Worth area, 

the State has pulled strangely-shaped minority population areas out of certain districts in order to 

submerge them in larger Anglo populations and to reduce minority voting strength.  See id. 

¶¶ 148-151; Rosas Decl. ¶ 13-18 (Ex. 27); Veasey Decl. ¶¶ 9-11 (Ex. 28). The data utilized in 

making some of these changes were race-based, as opposed to partisan.  See Arrington Rep. ¶¶ 

164-173.  While race and political affiliation may often coincide, race cannot be used as a proxy 

for political persuasion in the redistricting process.  Bush v. Vera, 517 U.S. 952, 968 (1996) 

(plurality op.).  

Case 1:11-cv-01303-RMC-TBG-BAH   Document 79-2    Filed 10/25/11   Page 44 of 48



39 

 

b. Historical Background of the Decision 

 The action of the State in devising the proposed Congressional plan must be viewed in 

the context of redistricting litigation involving the State’s benchmark Congressional plan 

resolved only five years ago.  That benchmark plan was finally completed by a federal court in 

2006 following the Supreme Court’s decision in LULAC, in which the Court found that previous 

State action with regard to Congressional District 23 violated Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act 

and required a redrawing of that District.  See 548 U.S. at 442-43. 

 As indicated above, the State has created a proposed District 23 that appears to be a better 

Hispanic district if one looks only at population but is actually a lower performing district when 

one looks at election data, in order to protect the Republican incumbent.  This action on the part 

of the State is strikingly similar to the redrawing of District 23 a decade earlier, which drew the 

following strong rebuke from Justice Kennedy: 

[…T]he Latinos’ diminishing electoral support for Bonilla 
indicates their belief he was “unresponsive to the particularized 
needs of the members of the minority group.” In essence the State 
took away the Latinos' opportunity because Latinos were about to 
exercise it. This bears the mark of intentional discrimination that 
could give rise to an equal protection violation. Even if we accept 
the District Court's finding that the State's action was taken 
primarily for political, not racial, reasons, the redrawing of the 
district lines was damaging to the Latinos in District 23. The State 
not only made fruitless the Latinos’ mobilization efforts but also 
acted against those Latinos who were becoming most politically 
active, dividing them with a district line through the middle of 
Laredo. 
 
[T]he reason for taking Latinos out of District 23, according to the 
District Court, was to protect Congressman Bonilla from a 
constituency that was increasingly voting against him. The Court 
has noted that incumbency protection can be a legitimate factor in 
districting, but experience teaches that incumbency protection can 
take various forms, not all of them in the interests of the 
constituents. If the justification for incumbency protection is to 
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keep the constituency intact so the officeholder is accountable for 
promises made or broken, then the protection seems to accord with 
concern for the voters. If, on the other hand, incumbency 
protection means excluding some voters from the district simply 
because they are likely to vote against the officeholder, the change 
is to benefit the officeholder, not the voters. By purposely 
redrawing lines around those who opposed Bonilla, the state 
legislature took the latter course. This policy, whatever its validity 
in the realm of politics, cannot justify the effect on Latino voters. 
The policy becomes even more suspect when considered in light of 
evidence suggesting that the State intentionally drew District 23 to 
have a nominal Latino voting-age majority (without a citizen 
voting-age majority) for political reasons.  This use of race to 
create the facade of a Latino district also weighs in favor of 
appellants’ claim. 

 
LULAC, 548 U.S. at 440-41.  This stark resemblance of the State’s action concerning the 

proposed Congressional plan to that action found by the Court in LULAC as evidencing 

intentional discrimination during the previous redistricting cycle, suggests strongly that such 

action “bears the mark” of intentional discrimination.  

c. Sequence of Events 

 As set forth in Dr. Arrington’s and other declarations, the Congressional redistricting 

process was a secretive process with little or no opportunity for minority representatives of 

choice to participate.  V. Gonzales Decl. ¶¶ 7-10, 19-24.  Even after the original proposed 

Congressional plan, developed in secret, was introduced, minority efforts to amend the plan were 

to no avail.  Farias Decl. ¶ 17; Martinez Fischer Decl. ¶ 12; V. Gonzales and Martinez Fischer 

Dep. 58:8-20, July 28, 2011 (Ex. 29).  The majorities in the House and Senate rejected any 

amendments to the Redistricting Committees’ plan that would have increased the number of 

minority ability-to-elect districts, and there is no evidence that rejection of the proposed 

amendments, and the overall limitation of minority ability-to-elect districts in the proposed plan, 
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was necessary in order to comply with traditional redistricting principles.  See Arrington Rep. ¶¶ 

174-193; V. Gonzales Decl. ¶¶ 25-26. 

d. Procedural and Substantive Departures  

 Again, the Congressional redistricting process afforded little access to minority 

representatives.  According to those directly affected by this secretiveness, the process was far 

less open than it had been in the past, evidencing an extreme intent to limit or eliminate minority 

participation in this redistricting cycle and, in turn, to limit minority ability-to-elect districts. See 

Perez Tr. at 92:1-23 (Martinez Fischer); V. Gonzales Decl. ¶¶ 7-10, 19-24; Veasey Decl. ¶¶ 5-8; 

Veasey Dep. at 23:6-17, 26:14-22, Aug. 29, 2011 (Ex. 30).  Moreover, notwithstanding the 

State’s claim of purely partisan reasoning behind the process and the substantive changes made 

to benchmark districts, the state’s line drawers, operating away from public view, drew the lines 

with racial block-level data to substitute for the lack of partisan data available below the precinct 

level.  “The racial nature of these actions is statistically convincing.”  Arrington Rep. ¶ 195. 

e. Contemporaneous Statements 

 While the existence of contemporaneous statements of direct racial intent related to 

current redistricting efforts may be rare, the email exchanges between United States 

Congressional representatives and staff, and State officials involved in devising the State’s plans, 

provide riveting circumstantial evidence bearing witness to the process discussed above, where 

data as to race and ethnicity rather than partisan data drove the line drawing for the proposed  

Congressional plan, and where the State sought to exclude minority representatives from the 

redistricting process.  These “real time” discussions as set out at length in Dr. Arrington’s report 

provide substantial evidence of the discriminatory intent of the framers of the State’s proposed 

Congressional plan.  See id. ¶¶ 181-192.   
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III. CONCLUSION 

 As set forth above, there are numerous disputed issues of material fact with regard to the 

retrogressive effect and discriminatory purpose of the State’s redistricting plans for its delegation 

to the United States Congress and the State House of Representatives, and the State is not 

entitled to judgment as a matter of law.  The State’s motion for summary judgment should be 

denied.  
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